IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

	FILED
NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD,) FER 1.5.2010
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA) No. No. 8252445
CHAPTER,	Jorge Navarrete Clerk Court of Appeal
Petitioner,) No. A149328 Deputy
vs.) Alameda County Superior Court,) Case No. RG15-785743
CITY OF HAYWARD, et al.,) (Hon. Evelio Grillo)
Respondents.	

AFTER A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT DIVISION THREE

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Amitai Schwartz (SB #55187)

Law Offices of Amitai Schwartz 2000 Powell Street, Ste. 1286 Emeryville, CA 94608 (510) 597.1775 (510) 597.0957 (fax) attorneys@schwartzlaw.com

Alan L. Schlosser (SBN #49957)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter submitted California Public Records Act requests to the City of Hayward seeking copies of police camera videos taken at a political demonstration protesting police killings of two unarmed black men. The City agreed to produce copies of the videos after it redacted out certain portions. It sent the Lawyers Guild a bill for labor costs that exceeded the direct cost of duplication. The Court of Appeal held that requiring a requester to pay the costs for redacting an electronic record is permitted by the Public Records Act.

The questions presented for review are:

- Whether a year 2000 amendment to the California
 Public Records Act (Gov. Code section 6253.9, subd.
 (b)) allows a public agency to shift the cost of redacting electronic records to a requester, when the cost of redaction cannot be imposed for paper records?
- 2. If the statutory language of the amendment is ambiguous, as found by the Court of Appeal, does Article I, section 3(b) of the California Constitution compel a construction in this case that does not limit access to redacted electronic records by the ability to pay?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Action, Relief Sought, and Judgment of the Superior Court

This is an appeal from a judgment ordering the clerk of the Alameda County Superior Court to issue a writ of mandate directing the City of Hayward to refund to plaintiff National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter labor costs previously charged and collected for the disclosure of electronic records under the California Public Records Act. JA 663. JA 660. Defendants appealed, JA 671. The Court of Appeal reversed. *National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter v. City of Hayward* (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 937.

II. Finality and Appealability of the Judgment
Judgment was entered on July 21, 2016. JA 663. Notice of
entry of judgment was served on July 22, 2016. JA 670.

Defendants filed a timely notice of appeal on August 8, 2016 (JA 671), within 60 days of notice of entry of judgment. Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.104 (a)(1)(B).

III. The Proceedings Below

The Lawyers Guild filed its petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and a Writ of Mandate in the Superior Court on September 15, 2015. JA 4. City employees Roush and Perez were

¹ Throughout this brief JA followed by a number refers to the parties' joint appendix.

deposed by the Lawyers Guild. JA29, 32-161. Based on the City's admissions in its Answer to the Petition and the deposition testimony, the Lawyers Guild moved for a peremptory writ of mandate. JA 23. Following an initial hearing, and following the superior court's suggestion, Perez was deposed a second time. JA 575-615.

The court held a further hearing on March 29, 2016. JA 617. After the hearing the court issued an order granting the Petition for a Writ of Mandate, directing the clerk to order Hayward to refund \$3,246.47, covering payments made by the Lawyers Guild for redacted copies of electronic records, videos of a political demonstration in Berkeley, captured by police body worn cameras. JA 619.

The court said that a public agency cannot charge a requester for the cost of removing information from an existing record. JA 628-629. "The phrase 'data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record' [used in section 6253.9(b)(2)] therefore logically refers to the construction or production of data to be produced to the recipient, and not to the creation of a redacted version of a previously existing public record." JA 630.²

² With respect to the City's contention that its charges were justified by Gov. Code section 6255(a), the court held "as a matter of law that under Government Code 6255, the CPRA's catch-all exemption, a public agency asserting that 'the public interest served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record' may consider the expense and inconvenience of all aspects of responding to the CPRA request, (continued...)

The superior court concluded that "Hayward therefore could not condition production of the redacted videos on payment both of the \$1 direct cost of production and \$3,246.47 in staff time related to redacting the videos." JA 621.

Judgment was subsequently entered on July 21, 2016. JA 663. The writ was issued by the clerk on the same day. JA 660. The City appealed and the Court of Appeal reversed and remanded.

The Court of Appeal correctly stated the facts, which are not in dispute. The Court of Appeal correctly stated the principal issue: "Is the City entitled under section 6253.9, subdivision (b) (section 6253.9(b)) to recoup from the Lawyers Guild certain costs it incurred to edit and redact exempt material on otherwise disclosable police department body camera videos prior to the electronic public records' production?" Slip Opinion at 4. The Court of Appeal said that "at bottom, the parties dispute over what costs are recoverable by a public agency under section 6253.9, subdivision (b)(2) hinges on the statutory definition of the term 'extraction.'" Slip Opinion at 9. After finding the term ambiguous, Slip Opinion at 10, the court relied on an interpretation of legislative history that is directly contrary to this Court's finding that the Legislature did not address the cost of

²(...continued) including the cost of redacting public records." JA 620. However, the court went on to find that "Hayward has not demonstrated that its CPRA compliance imposed an undue burden over and above the regular expected burden." JA 621.

redacting records in section 6253.9(b). Sierra Club v. Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal. 4th 157, 175.

Following the Lawyers Guild's petition for rehearing the court modified its opinion, stating that the City may charge "to construct a copy of the police body camera video recordings for disclosure purposes, including the cost of special computer services and programming (e.g., Windows Movie Maker software) used to extract exempt material from these recordings in order to produce a copy thereof to the Guild." Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing; No Change in Judgment at 2. The Court of Appeal remanded to the trial court to determine precisely which costs, among those billed, the City is entitled to recover under section 6253.9(b). *Id.*

This Court granted review.

IV. Summary of Significant Facts

The Hayward Police Department provided mutual aid to the City of Berkeley in policing protests and demonstrations in December 2014 in connection with the killing by police officers of Michael Brown in Ferguson, Missouri, and Eric Garner in Staten Island, New York. The killings received national attention, precipitating and renewing increased scrutiny of police conduct. The demonstrations resulted in injuries and arrests. JA 6, 14, 26.

Pursuant to the California Public Records Act the Lawyers
Guild requested copies of records related to the Hayward police
department's actions at the protests and demonstrations. The records

included paper records and video captured by Hayward police officers who wore body cameras. JA 7, 14.

Hayward produced the paper records and identified relevant body worn camera videos, which had previously been uploaded to a cloud based storage system known as "Evidence.com." JA 43, 96-97. The videos were stored in an MP4 digital format and later produced in MP4 format. JA 50, 53.

However, before disclosing copies of the videos the City redacted out some portions, claiming the redacted information was exempt by law. The City charged the Lawyers Guild \$3,247.44 for time spent by its employees locating the videos, reviewing the videos, the time spent making the redactions, and for the copies of the videos. JA 153-54, 157.

The City did not charge for the cost of redacting the paper records. JA 145-46.

City employee Nathaniel Roush identified the relevant videos.³ He took 4.9 hours for this task. JA 53-56. The Lawyers Guild then narrowed its request to about six hours of video, covering five police officers and three time periods. JA 7, 15. Adam Perez, the Police Department's records administrator, then edited the videos by redacting portions the City believed were exempt by law from mandatory disclosure. JA 81-148. Perez redacted out information

³ According to Roush, the City of Hayward IT manager for public safety, the City accumulated approximately 1,093 hours of police video per month, as of February, 2016. JA 254.

pertaining to security measures and video depicting medical information. JA 109-110. The security measure information was redacted from some audio portions because it included "radio traffic" and some "officers' communication" with each other. JA 107. The medical information pertained to two incidents. Because it was captured in several videos, it was redacted from each video. JA 607. According to Perez, this information was redacted so that it would not "violate HIPAA laws or anything like that." JA 107, 109. The Lawyers Guild did not challenge the City's claim that the redactions were exempt from mandatory disclosure.

Perez had never previously edited video and had not worked on redacting exempt portions of video. He found a publicly available computer application on the internet known as Microsoft Windows Movie Maker. JA 102-103.⁴ He had never used Movie Maker before. JA 131-132. After working his way through the project, he ended up with redacted videos with the exempt portions of video and audio removed. JA 22-33. Perez took about 35.3 hours both learning and using Movie Maker to produce the disclosed videos. JA 164. The edited videos totaled 232 minutes. JA 26.

The City charged \$2,939.58, using the time spent by Roush and Perez, multiplied by their hourly salaries and benefits. JA 164. The Lawyers Guild paid the charges under protest and received the videos. JA 7-8,15-16, 26.

⁴ Movie Maker is a relatively simple program. Instructions for using Movie Maker are in the record. JA 178.

Subsequently, the Lawyers Guild requested additional video footage. JA 26-27. The City edited the responsive footage, which was less than the first batch, made copies. It gave the Lawyers Guild a bill for \$308.89. JA 26, 75. The Lawyers Guild paid the charges under protest again and received two videos totaling 65 minutes. JA 26-27.

The City of Hayward's workflow, which resulted in the charges to the Lawyers Guild for both sets of videos, therefore, consisted of: identifying the responsive video tapes out of a larger set; reviewing the tapes to figure out what needed redaction; selecting software to perform the redactions; learning how to use the software; redacting audio and video; reviewing the remaining video to verify the process; and, finally duplicating the result. JA 114-115, 126, 129-130.

The Lawyers Guild paid the requested charges so that it could promptly obtain the copies. JA 26. It then sued for return of the money. JA 4.5

ARGUMENT

I. The Standard of Review

The trial court's interpretation of the California Public Records Act is reviewed de novo. *Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 387. This is true of any legal decision

⁵ A requester may pay a challenged fee in order quickly to obtain copies of public records and then file suit under the Public Records Act seeking judicial review of the fee. North County Parents Organization For Children with Special Needs v. Department of Education (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 148.

regarding disclosure of records under the Act. CBS, Inc. v. Block (1986) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651.

The fundamental task is to determine the Legislature's intent. A court must first examine the language of the statute, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning. The language must be examined in the context of the entire statutory scheme, including the significance of every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act. If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider the statute's purpose, legislative, history, and public policy. *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608, 616-617; *Sierra Club v. Superior Court* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, 165-166. "To the extent this examination of the statutory language leaves uncertainty, it is appropriate to consider 'the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation." *Commission of Peace Officer Standards and Training v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 278, 290 (internal citations omitted).

When any portion of the California Public Records Act is under review, "this standard approach to statutory interpretation is augmented by a constitutional imperative." *City of San Jose*, 2 Cal. 5th at 617. Article I, Section 3, subd. (b)(2) of the California Constitution requires that "A statute, court rule, or other authority, including those in effect on the effective date of this subdivision, shall be broadly construed if it furthers the people's right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access." See City of

San Jose, 2 Cal.5th at 617, 620; Sierra Club, 57 Cal.4th at 166 (emphasis added).

II. Introduction: The Overriding Purpose of Art. I. section 3 of the Constitution and of the Public Records Act is to Make Public Records, Including Electronic Records of Police Activities, Accessible to Everyone

"Implicit in the democratic process is the notion that government should be accountable for its actions. In order to verify accountability, individuals must have access to government files. Such access permits checks against the arbitrary exercise of official power and secrecy in the political process." *CBS, Inc. v. Block* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651.

Like several other recent Public Records Act cases decided by this Court, "[t]his case concerns how laws, originally designed to cover paper documents, apply to evolving methods of electronic communication." City of San Jose v. Superior Court, 2 Cal. 5th at 615 (public access to communications about the conduct of the public's business located on government employees' private devices); American Civil Liberties Union Foundation v. Superior Court (2017) 3 Cal. 5th 1032 (access to automatic license plate reader data); Sierra Club v. Superior Court, 57 Cal.4th 157 (access to GIS database). Persons seeking to inspect and copy paper records can do so knowing that the only costs that can lawfully be imposed on them are the direct costs of duplication (North County Parents Organization For Children with Special Needs v. Department of Education, 23

Cal.App.4th at 148), or a specific statutory fee. *Shippen v.*Department of Motor Vehicles (1984) 161 Cal.App.3d 1119.

In 1981 the Legislature strengthened the Public Records Act by amending former Gov. Code section 6257, the predecessor to Gov. Code section 6253(b), to limit costs to the direct costs of duplication of records. This important limitation was affirmed in the *North County Parents Organization for Children with Special Needs* case, 23 Cal.App.4th at 147.6

Agencies had to absorb the other expenses such as the labor costs of redacting out exempt portions of the records. "Thus it can be seen that the trend has been to limit, rather than to broaden, the base upon which the fee may be calculated. A 'reasonable fee' or the 'actual cost of providing the copy' could be interpreted to include the cost of all the various tasks associated with locating and pulling the file, excising material, etc. When these phrases are replaced by the more restrictive phrase "direct costs of duplication," only one conclusion seems possible." *Id.* at 147-48. The limit on cost shifting is a key factor in the Public Records Act living up to its goal of being

⁶ "The original wording, adopted in 1968 (Stats.1968, ch. 1473, § 39, p. 2948), was that 'a reasonable fee' could be charged. In 1975 an amendment limited the 'reasonable fee' to not more than \$.10 per page. (Stats.1975, ch. 1246, § 8, p. 3212.) An amendment in 1976 deleted 'reasonable fee' and inserted instead 'the actual cost of providing the copy.' (Stats.1976, ch. 822, § 1, p. 1890.) Finally, the present version of the statute was adopted in 1981 limiting the fee to the 'direct costs of duplication.' (§ 6257.)" *North County Parents Org.*, at 147.

a mechanism that all Californians can use to keep government open and transparent.

Most government records today are kept in electronic databases, not filing cabinets and drawers. If, as the City of Hayward contends, a 2000 amendment to the Public Records Act, Gov. Code section 6253.9(b) now permits an agency to charge labor costs for redacting electronic records, the ground rules will fundamentally change. This seismic shift will disfavor organizations and individuals who cannot afford to pay hundreds or thousands of dollars beyond the cost of duplication of the record. See fn. 26, post.

The "right of access to information" is enshrined in the California Constitution. Cal. Const. art. 1, section 3(b)(1). It is no less a right than any other right guaranteed to the people of this State. In addition to this constitutional right, the Public Records Act "establishes a presumptive right of access to any record created or maintained by a public agency that relates in any way to the business of the public agency[.]" Sander v. State Bar (2013) 58 Cal.4th 300, 323. The Act itself provides "that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state." Gov. Code section 6250; see Times Mirror Co. v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1325, 1335.

As this Court has recognized, this "right of access" is especially salient when the subject is law enforcement: "In order to maintain trust in its police department, the public must be kept fully informed of the activities of its peace officers." *Commission on Peace Officer*

Standards & Training v. Superior Court, 42 Cal.4th at 297. See Pasadena Police Officers Association v. Superior Court (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 268, 283 "Given the authority with which they are entrusted, the need for transparency, accountability and public access to information is particularly acute when the information sought involves the conduct of police officers." Id. And, as the Legislature recently recognized, when it passed legislation requiring access to certain peace officer personnel records,

The public has a strong, compelling interest in law enforcement transparency because it is essential to having a just and democratic society.

Stats. 2018, Chap. 988, Sec. 4, added by Sen. Bill No. 1421, 2017-2018 Reg. Session (amending Pen. Code sections 832.7 and 832.8, effective January 1, 2019). *See also*, Stats. 2018, Chap. 960, Sec. 1, Assem. Bill 748, 2017-2018 Reg. Session (amending Gov. Code section 6254(f) (requiring access to police camera videos of a "critical incident")).

Access to these electronic records is essential to hold law enforcement agencies and police officers accountable to the public they serve because police officers "hold one of the most powerful positions in our society; our dependence on them is high and the potential for abuse of power is far from insignificant.' (City of Hemet v. Superior Court (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1428, 44 Cal.Rptr.2d 532.)" Commission on Peace Officer Standards & Training v.

Superior Court at 299–300. Peace officers are the only public officials authorized to use force or threaten to use force in their work.⁷

The City of Hayward differentiated between electronic records and paper records, charging for one and not the other. Whether this is permissible under the Public Records Act turns on the meaning of Gov. Code section 6253.9(b).

Government Code section 6253.9, as we will show, does not allow police or other agencies to require a requestor to bear the cost of segregating out information that an agency chooses to withhold from public disclosure. "[C]ase law recognizes that the CPRA should be interpreted in light of modern technological realities." *American Civil Liberties Union Foundation v. Superior Court*, 3 Cal. 5th at 1041. Subsection (b)(2) is limited to extraordinary computer processes necessary to produce a record from a broad set of data.

Inasmuch as government recordkeeping has changed and police technology has advanced over the past several decades, these changes and advances require an interpretation of section 6253.9 that is faithful to the text of the statute, but consistent with the purpose of the Act.⁸ This interpretation must take into account practical realities,

⁷ See Bittner, the Function of the Police in Modern Society (1970) pp. 38-39, U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Justice

https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/Digitization/147822NCJRS.pdf (as of February 7, 2019).

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