SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORN APR 02 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD, SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA CHAPTER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}$

CITY OF HAYWARD, ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

Case No. S252445

Court of Appeal No. A149328

Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG15785743 (Hon. Evelio Grillo)

AFTER A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT DIVISION THREE

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michael S. Lawson (SB #048172)
City Attorney
*Justin Nishioka (SB #278207)
Assistant City Attorney
City of Hayward
777 B Street, 4th Floor
Hayward, CA 94541-5007
Tel: (510) 583-4458

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

Argument

I. THE STATUTORY TERM AT ISSUE: §6253.9

In Government Code §6253.9(b), the Legislature created an exception to the general rule that agencies may only charge the direct cost of duplication for PRA requests. The relevant portion of §6253.9 reads as follows:

"(a) Unless otherwise prohibited by law, any agency that has information that constitutes an identifiable public record not exempt from disclosure pursuant to this chapter that is in an electronic format shall make that information available in an electronic format when requested by any person and, when applicable, shall apply with the following:

- (1) The agency shall make the information available in any electronic format in which it holds the information.
- (2) Each agency shall provide a copy of an electronic record in the format requested if the requested format is one that has been used by the agency to create copies for its own use or for provision to other agencies. The cost of duplication shall be limited to the direct cost of producing a copy of a record in an electronic format.
- (b) Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the requester shall bear the cost of producing a copy of the record, including the cost to construct a record, and the cost of programming and computer services necessary to produce a copy of the record when . . . [t]he request would require data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record."
- II. THE PRA DISTINGUISHES BETWEEN PAPER AND ELECTRONIC RECORDS, PROVIDING IN §6253
 THAT REQUESTERS OF PAPER RECORDS MAY

ONLY BE CHARGED THE "DIRECT COSTS OF DUPLICATION," BUT PROVIDING IN §6253.9 THAT REQUESTERS OF ELECTRONIC RECORDS MAY BE CHARGED ADDITIONAL COSTS IF "DATA COMPILATION, EXTRACTION, OR PROGRAMMING" IS NECESSARY TO PRODUCE THE RECORD.

The PRA was enacted in 1968 for the purpose of providing the public with a broad right of access to government information. (Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1272, 1281.) It begins with the Legislature's declaration that while being "mindful of the right of individuals to privacy," "that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state." (§6250.) This right was, moreover, "enshrined in the state Constitution," by Proposition 59 in 2004. (Sierra Club v. Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, 164 ["Sierra Club"], citing Cal.Const., Art.I, §(3)(b)(1).) The PRA broadly defines "public records" as any "writing" of a public agency "containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business . . . regardless of physical form" and then defines "writing" as including specified written, visual and electronic records plus "every other means of recording upon any tangible thing any form of communication or

representation." (§6252(e) & (g).) There is, thus, no dispute that police body-camera videos are public records covered by the PRA.

Although the PRA's broad definition of public records encompasses paper and electronic records, and although the "format of information is not generally determinative" when applying the provisions of the PRA, a 2000 amendment to the PRA added §6253.9, which addresses only electronic records. (Sierra Club at 165, citing Stats.2000, ch. 982, "AB2799.") As presented above, Subdivision (a) of §6253.9 provides that "any agency having information that constitutes an identifiable public record not exempt from disclosure . . . that is in an electronic format shall make that information available in an electronic format when requested," adding in subdivision (1) that the information should be made available "in any electronic format in which [the agency] holds the information," and in subdivision (2) that an agency must "provide a copy of an electronic record in the format requested" if that format "is one that has been used by the agency to create copies for its own use or for provision to other agencies."

Subdivision (b) of §6253.9 addresses the costs of providing the record, drawing the distinction between paper and electronic records at issue in this case. To understand the distinction, it must be understood that: "Generally speaking, an agency may recover only the direct cost of duplicating a record." (*County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court* (2009) 170

Cal.App.4th 1301, 1336 ["Santa Clara"], citing §6253(b).) Specifically, §6253(b) provides:

"upon a request for a copy of records that reasonably describes an identifiable record or records, [each agency] shall make the records promptly available to any person upon payment of fees covering direct costs of duplication, or a statutory fee if applicable."

This language has been understood to limit the amount agencies can recover, limiting recoupment to direct costs. These direct costs have been interpreted "to cover the cost of running the copy machine, and conceivably also the expense of the person operating it while excluding any charge for the ancillary tasks necessarily associated with the retrieval, inspection and handling of the file from which the copy is extracted." (Santa Clara at 1336, citing North County Parents Organization for Children with Special Needs v. Department of Education (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 148 ["North County"]; accord, Fredericks v. Superior Court (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 209, 236 ["Fredericks"].) However, as Fredericks explains, North County dealt with paper records, and since North County was decided in 1994, AB2799 added §6253.9 to the PRA, with a new "costs provision" that "has permitted allocation of additional costs for production of information in an electronic format." (Id. at 219, 236, citing §6253.9(b).)

As added by AB2799, §6253.9(a)(2) clarifies that "the cost

of duplication shall be limited to the direct cost of producing a copy of a record in an electronic format." But §6253.9(b), also as added by AB2799, "allows an agency to recover specified ancillary costs" beyond the direct cost of duplication when the greater burden of producing a copy of an electronic record warrants asking the requester to bear the additional costs. (Santa Clara, at 1336.) In full, subdivision (b) provides:

"Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the requester shall bear the cost of producing a copy of the record, including the cost to construct a record, and the cost of programming and computer services necessary to produce a copy of the record when either of the following applies:

- (1) In order to comply with the provisions of subdivision (a), the public agency would be required to produce a copy of an electronic record and the record is one that is produced only at otherwise regularly scheduled intervals.
- (2) The request would require data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record."

In short, as Santa Clara and Fredericks both make clear, North County remains the law for **paper records**, but it has limited application to **electronic records**. For electronic records, agencies are **not** limited to charging the direct cost of

duplication if producing a copy requires "data compilation, extraction, or programming," and may "recover specified ancillary costs," including costs not allowed in *North County*, like the cost of redaction. (*Fredericks*, at 237; *Santa Clara*, at 1336.)

Because producing the body-camera videos requested by NLG required the City to compile MP4 video files and then extract exempt video data using a specialized computer program, after reviewing §6253.9(b), the City determined it was permitted to charge NLG for some of its costs, including the cost of compiling videos and removing the exempt information. The express PRA language aligns with this interpretation.

III. THE CITY PROPERLY CHARGED FOR COMPILING
THE BODY-CAMERA VIDEOS BECAUSE THE TERM
"DATA COMPILATION" ENCOMPASSES
SEARCHING FOR AND GATHERING RECORDS
FROM A LARGE DATABASE.

Pursuant to the NLG's PRA request, Nathaniel Roush, an IT manager for the City, was required to gather, search for, and compile body-camera videos on a cloud-based database called *Evidence.com*. This process of searching for and gathering responsive electronic records constitutes "data compilation."

In a computer related context, "data" is defined as the following:

"Computer data is information processed or stored by a computer. This information may be in the form of text documents, images, audio clips, software programs, or other types of data."5

It thus follows that "data compilation" is the process of bringing responsive computer files ("text documents, images, audio clips") from a database or multiple databases and compiling that information into a record. This is precisely what was done by Roush. "Computer data" files were searched for, gathered, and compiled from a database onto a DVD. In addition to aligning with a plain and commonsense understanding of the term "data compilation," the compilation performed by Roush also aligns with applicable case law, specifically, the Court of Appeal decision in *Fredericks*.6

In *Fredericks*, the Petitioner submitted a request for "complaints and/or requests for assistance" made to the San Diego Police Department over the sixty-day period prior to the request. (*Id.* at 215.) Incident History Reports were found to be responsive. (*Ibid.*) Compiling those Incident History Reports,

⁵ TechTerms, definition of "data,"

https://techterms.com/definition/data (accessed on March 7, 2019); See also, JA:24.13 (NLG, citing Webster's New World College Dictionary, defining "data" as "facts or figures to be processed; evidence, records, statistics from which conclusions can be inferred; information.")

⁶ This argument was presented previously in both the trial court and in the Court of Appeal. (JA:562-563 & Appellants' Reply Brief, p. 19; *Compare with*, NLG Opening Brief ("OB"), p. 64-65)

and then performing redactions on those compiled records, allowed the agency to invoice costs by which the court could "condition disclosure upon," since "generation, compilation, and redaction" were required to produce the record. (*Id.* at 238.)

The court in *Fredericks* stated that, because of AB2799 and the integration of 6253.9(b), agencies can charge the costs of compiling electronic records. (*Id.* at 236.) As shown below, the court stated this after recognizing its earlier decision in *North County*:

"Generally, the ancillary costs of retrieving, inspecting, and handling material to be prepared for disclosure may not be charged to the requestor. (North County Parents Organization, supra, 23 Cal.App.4th at p. 148, 28 Cal.Rptr.2d 359 [but concurring and dissenting opinion would allow access to public records to be circumscribed in appropriate instances by 'reasonable conditions regarding format and price'], conc. & dis. Opn. Of Huffman, J., at p. 154, 28 Cal. Rptr.2d 359.) However, since this court decided that case in 1994, another CPRA costs provision was added in 2000, section 6253.9, subdivision (b) (Stats. 2000, ch. 982, §2, p. 7142), to allow allocation of costs for production of information in an electronic format." (*Ibid.*) (*emphasis* added)

Roush searched for computer data in the *Evidence.com* database that was responsive to the NLG's PRA request and compiled that video data into a single responsive file. This process aptly applies to the *Fredericks* Court's usage of the term "compilation." (*Id.* at 236.)

Here, the NLG's initial PRA request did not name or identify any specific videos. The requested body of information was not already compiled into a single folder or simply retrieved from a file cabinet. The records here required 4.9 hours of compilation. (JA:54.) They required searches over 45 distinct parameters. (JA:50.) Thus, a plain reading of the term "data compilation" and an application of the decision in *Fredericks* allows the City to charge the NLG for the extensive compilation of video by Roush.

IV. THE CITY PROPERLY CHARGED FOR EDITING THE RESPONSIVE BODY-CAMERA VIDEOS BECAUSE THE TERM "EXTRACTION" ENCOMPASSES THE REMOVAL OF EXEMPT INFORMATION FROM AN ELECTRONIC RECORD.

A. The Definition of Extraction

The principle issue under dispute is whether the term "extraction" encompasses the removal of exempt information. "[C]ourts appropriately refer to the dictionary definition to

ascertain the ordinary, usual meaning of a word." (California Public Records Research, Inc. v. County of Stanislaus (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1432, 1451 ["County of Stanislaus"].) Here, there is no dispute as to the dictionary definition of "extraction." (JA:224 [City Ps.&As]; JA:24.13 [NLG Ps.&As].) "Extraction" is defined as "the action of taking out something, especially using effort or force." (JA:411; compare with, JA:171 & 629.) Synonyms listed with the word "extraction" are words such as "removal," "taking out," "drawing out," "pulling out," and "withdrawal." (Ibid.) It is difficult to imagine how editing a video to remove certain sounds and images is anything other than "taking out something. . . using effort." In the context of video files, the concept of "extraction" perfectly aligns with the editing process done by the City. The process of extracting exempt information from a video involves each and every synonym listed above. It requires "removal," "taking out," "drawing out," "pulling out," and "withdrawal" of exempt information from the record.

When we view just the word "extraction" in the context of the facts before us, a plain, commonsense understanding aligns with the interpretation that "extraction" occurred when the City removed exempt material from the responsive body-camera videos. But the term "extraction" is not read in isolation but considered in conjunction with the entire statutory scheme. Its context matters, as explained below.

B. Extraction Considered in Context to the Statutory Scheme

Construing the term "extraction" to encompass the removal of exempt material effectuates the purpose of §6253.9(b), and makes sense when §6253.9(b) is read in the context of §6253.9 and the PRA as a whole. The PRA is designed to balance public access and privacy, providing for both wide disclosure and multiple exemptions. (*City of Richmond v. Superior Court* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1430, 1433 ["*City of Richmond*"].) It also furthers both access and privacy by requiring disclosure of "reasonably segregable" portions of requested records "after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law." (§6253(a).) "Deletion" in this context means extraction of non-disclosable material from disclosable records— exactly what the City did with the requested bodycamera videos.

The right of access to public records "is not absolute." (Copley Press at 1282.) There is generally a "tension between the public's right to know and the equally important public interest in protecting citizens and public servants from unwarranted exposure of private matters." (City of Richmond, at 1433.) The Legislature acknowledged this "tension between privacy and disclosure," also declaring in §6250 that it was "mindful of the right of individuals to privacy." (Ibid.) This "express policy declaration at the beginning of the Act bespeaks legislative concern for individual privacy as well as disclosure."

(*Copley Press* at 1282.) And Proposition 59 similarly expresses this concern, providing additional "assurance" that the "right of access is not meant to supersede or modify existing privacy rights." (*Bertoli v. City of Sebastopol* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 353, 366, citing Cal. Const., art. I, §3(b)(3).)

The PRA expressly protects privacy by setting forth "numerous" exemptions, "generally" involving documents or information "that for one reason or another should remain confidential." (*Ardon v. City of Los Angeles* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1176, 1182, citing §6254 [with subdivisions (a)-(z) & (aa)-(ad)]; *See also*, §§6254.1-6254.33 & §§6275 - 6276.48 [providing additional exemptions].) Striking a balance between privacy and disclosure, §6255(a) allows agencies to withhold any record if it shows "the public interest served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record."

The balancing of privacy and disclosure is also reflected in §6253(a), which requires:

"Any reasonably segregable portion of a record shall be available for inspection by any person requesting the record after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law."

"In other words, the fact that a public record may contain some confidential information does not justify withholding the entire document;" rather, if possible, the agency is required to remove the "exempt" parts and "produce the remainder." (Santa Clara,

at 1336.)

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